

# Annual Review of Clinical Psychology Mental Health of Transgender and Gender Diverse Youth

# Natalie M. Wittlin,<sup>1</sup> Laura E. Kuper,<sup>2,3</sup> and Kristina R. Olson<sup>1</sup>

- <sup>1</sup>Department of Psychology, Princeton University, Princeton, New Jersey, USA; email: natalie.wittlin@princeton.edu
- <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, Texas, USA
- <sup>3</sup>Department of Endocrinology, Children's Health Systems of Texas, Dallas, Texas, USA



## www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- · Navigate cited references
- · Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 2023. 19:207-32

First published as a Review in Advance on January 6, 2023

The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology is online at clinpsy:annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-072220-020326

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.



# Keywords

transgender, adolescents, children, youth, mental health

#### **Abstract**

Transgender and gender diverse (TGD) children and adolescents are an increasingly visible yet highly stigmatized group. These youth experience more psychological distress than not only their cisgender, heterosexual peers but also their cisgender, sexual minority peers. In this review, we document these mental health disparities and discuss potential explanations for them using a minority stress framework. We also discuss factors that may increase and decrease TGD youth's vulnerability to psychological distress. Further, we review interventions, including gender-affirming medical care, that may improve mental health in TGD youth. We conclude by discussing limitations of current research and suggestions for the future.

Contents		
1.	INTRODUCTION	208
2.	INSTITUTIONAL (DE)PATHOLOGIZATION OF GENDER	
	DIVERSITY IN YOUTH	210
3.	DESCRIBING MENTAL HEALTH DISPARITIES	210
	3.1. Depression and Anxiety	210
	3.2. Suicidality and Nonsuicidal Self-Injury	211
	3.3. Disordered Eating	211
	3.4. Substance Use	212
	3.5. Autism	212
4.	EXPLAINING MENTAL HEALTH DISPARITIES	213
	4.1. Distal Minority Stressors	213
	4.2. Proximal Minority Stressors	214
	4.3. Physical Dysphoria	214
5.	DESCRIBING AND EXPLAINING VARIATION AMONG	
	TRANSGENDER AND GENDER DIVERSE YOUTH	215
	5.1. Demographic Differences	215
	5.2. Risk and Protective Factors	216
6.	INTERVENTIONS	
	6.1. Psychosocial Interventions for Families	219
	6.2. Psychotherapeutic Interventions for Youth	
	6.3. Medical Interventions	220
7.	CHALLENGES, LIMITATIONS, AND FUTURE RESEARCH	
	DIRECTIONS	221
	7.1. Understudied Subgroups	
	7.2. Underexamined Topics	222
	7.3. Underused Methods	223
8.	CONCLUSIONS	224

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Awareness of and attention to transgender and gender diverse (TGD)<sup>1</sup> youth—by the media, government officials, psychologists, and the general public—have risen in recent years. Depictions of transgender individuals, including children and adolescents, have been increasingly featured in television shows (Townsend et al. 2022), and issues affecting transgender people have been increasingly covered by news outlets (Pang et al. 2020). Along with this increased representation has come an increase in policies that affect transgender youth's rights,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The terms transgender and trans are used sometimes to refer to anyone whose gender identity does not correspond with their sex assigned at birth, sometimes to refer only to the subset who identify as girls/women and boys/men, and sometimes as umbrella terms that can include people who are gender nonconforming. Because of this ambiguity and because not all studies are clear about whether people self-identify with these terms, we instead use the term transgender and gender diverse (TGD) throughout this review. Specifically, we use TGD as an umbrella term to refer, broadly, to transgender and nonbinary individuals, as well as those who have visited a gender clinic or received a gender-related diagnosis (e.g., "gender identity disorder," "gender dysphoria," or "gender incongruence").

ranging from banning the provision of gender-affirming medical care to minors and barring transgender youth from participating on sports teams that correspond with their gender identity (High Court of Justice 2020, Richgels et al. 2021) to banning gender identity-based conversion "therapy" (https://www.lgbtmap.org/equality-maps/conversion\_therapy) and protecting TGD individuals' right to use bathrooms that correspond with their gender identity (https://www.lgbtmap.org/equality-maps/safe\_school\_laws/discrimination).

Estimates of the percentage of adolescents who are transgender have also increased in recent years. A report that used adult survey data from 2014–2015 to extrapolate to teens estimated that 0.73% of US youth aged 13–17 self-identified as transgender (Herman et al. 2017). More recent (2017 and 2019) surveys of US adolescents, however, have estimated that the actual percentage is higher—ranging from 1.4%–1.8% (Herman et al. 2022, Johns et al. 2019) to 2.7%–3.4% when more inclusive criteria (including those who are unsure if they are transgender) are used (Johns et al. 2019, Rider et al. 2018).

Until recently, minimal research on the mental health of TGD youth had been conducted. Indeed, a 2016 *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* review on mental health in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT)<sup>2</sup> youth highlighted the need for a greater focus on transgender youth given that the vast majority of work at that point had focused on sexual minority youth (Russell & Fish 2016). Since 2016, research on transgender youth has proliferated, such that the number of Google Scholar results for "transgender children" nearly tripled from 2012–2016 to 2017–2021, and the number of results for "transgender adolescents" more than quadrupled.

Researchers' growing attention to transgender children and adolescents likely reflects, at least in part, awareness of the importance of understanding their psychological well-being. High levels of psychological distress have been documented in transgender youth, and gaining a comprehensive picture of likely contributors to this distress is vital to addressing them. Additionally, parents, clinicians, and policy makers around the world are actively making decisions about medical care, gender-segregated spaces and activities, and school curricula, all of which have major consequences for the lives of TGD children and adolescents. Using empirical research to inform these decisions can help ensure that they can improve—rather than worsen—the mental health of TGD youth.

The goal of this review is to provide an overview of what is known about the mental health of TGD children and adolescents (i.e., TGD youth). We aim to (a) document mental health disparities between TGD and cisgender youth, (b) begin to explain these disparities using psychological theory and research, (c) describe identities and experiences associated with levels of psychological distress among TGD youth, (d) explore interventions designed to improve the well-being of TGD youth, and (e) highlight limitations and gaps in the existing literature and provide suggestions for future research on this topic.

In this review, we present research on TGD youth with a variety of gender identities, but all groups are not equally represented in all sections. In recent years, most adolescents presenting at gender clinics and participating in research have been transmasculine (i.e., transgender boys and others who were assigned female at birth and who identify on the masculine spectrum) (Aitken et al. 2015), so our review of adolescents is skewed accordingly. In contrast, research with young children tends to include more transfeminine individuals, who often present at gender clinics at earlier ages (Khadr et al. 2022), so our review of children is skewed in that direction. Additionally,

# Gender-affirming medical care:

hormonal and surgical interventions (including puberty blockers) to pause puberty or increase gender diverse adolescents' and adults' experienced alignment between their bodies and their identities; receiving gender-affirming medical care often constitutes medically transitioning

## Gender identity:

a person's internal sense of belonging to one or more gender categories, such as girl, boy, woman, man, female, male, and/or nonbinary

Cisgender: a term generally used to refer to anyone whose gender identity corresponds with their sex assigned at birth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Several acronyms are used to refer, collectively, to sexual and gender minorities—for example, LGBT, LGBTQ (which explicitly includes queer and/or questioning), and LGBTQ+ (which explicitly includes people with other identities). In this review, we use whichever acronym was used by the authors to whose work we are referring.

#### Nonbinary:

identifying outside of the gender binary (e.g., as nonbinary, gender fluid, genderqueer, two-spirit); sometimes people who are agender (who do not identify with any gender or who see themselves as gender neutral) are also considered nonbinary

Stigma: the marking, stereotyping, and "othering" of a disempowered social group, such that that group is demeaned and discriminated against

#### Gender dysphoria:

distress resulting from a noncorrespondence between one's assigned sex and gender identity (when placed within quotation marks, we are referring to the diagnostic term) only recently have researchers begun to pay more attention to nonbinary youth, so they are relatively underrepresented in this review.

Finally, in this review, we focus primarily on individuals aged 19 or younger (or studies with a mean age of 19 or lower), whom we describe using the term youth. When describing specific samples, we provide mean age (as well as age range, sample size, and majority racial/ethnic group) when possible. We further divide youth into two subgroups: youth who have likely not yet begun any puberty or who are 12 and under, when pubertal status is unknown (whom we refer to as children), and youth who have begun puberty or are 13+ (whom we refer to as adolescents). More studies focus on adolescents, so they are overrepresented here.

# 2. INSTITUTIONAL (DE)PATHOLOGIZATION OF GENDER DIVERSITY IN YOUTH

Within the field of psychology, prevailing understandings of the relationship between gender diversity and mental health have shifted in recent decades. Previously, TGD identities were considered pathological (e.g., Coates & Person 1985). Indeed, to our knowledge, this journal's last review of the literature on TGD youth used the term "gender identity disorder" (Zucker 2005), in line with the categorization at the time in the American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM). The general consensus among psychologists today, however, is that having a gender identity that differs from one's assigned sex is not pathological but rather a healthy form of human variation (Coleman et al. 2022). Changes in the way researchers and clinicians understand gender identity have been reflected in and influenced by revisions to the DSM, the ICD (the World Health Organization's *International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems*), and the World Professional Association for Transgender Health's Standards of Care for the Health of Transgender and Gender Diverse People (Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2022, Coleman et al. 2022, Reed et al. 2016, World Health Organ. 2022).

Revisions to these documents, however, have not alleviated all concerns about the pathologization of TGD identities. Critics have asserted, for example, that the DSM fails to distinguish between the distress some (but not all) TGD people experience as a direct result of the noncorrespondence between their assigned sex and/or body and their gender identity and the distress some TGD people experience as a result of the stigma (Link & Phelan 2001) associated with being TGD (Reed et al. 2016). They have also suggested that the very inclusion of "gender incongruence" and "gender dysphoria" in the ICD and DSM, respectively, is inherently pathologizing and promotes stigma against TGD people (Castro-Peraza et al. 2019, Suess Schwend et al. 2018). Indeed, as detailed in this review, a preponderance of research suggests that stigma plays a major role in contributing to psychological distress in TGD youth.

# 3. DESCRIBING MENTAL HEALTH DISPARITIES

TGD youth experience heightened levels of psychological distress and heightened rates of mental health concerns. Because very little research has made use of representative samples, the exact burden of psychological distress and mental health concerns among TGD youth remains elusive. Still, the existing literature provides a meaningful, albeit inexact, picture of the mental health of TGD youth and how it compares to that of cisgender youth. Here, we focus on the most commonly studied (and most common) mental health phenomena.

# 3.1. Depression and Anxiety

Levels of depression and anxiety, both of which are considered internalizing (i.e., internally directed) manifestations of psychological distress (Kotov et al. 2017), are frequently elevated in

TGD youth compared to their cisgender peers (Clark et al. 2014, Eisenberg et al. 2017, Guz et al. 2021)—including their sexual minority cisgender peers (Price-Feeney et al. 2020)—as well as reference samples (Röder et al. 2018) and clinical cut points (Skagerberg et al. 2013a). This pattern has emerged among adolescents from various racial and ethnic groups (Vance et al. 2021) and is not limited to Western contexts (e.g., Wang et al. 2020). Rates of clinically elevated levels of depression and anxiety in TGD youth also tend to be quite high (de Graaf et al. 2018), as evidenced by over half (55.2%) of 12- to 18-year-olds at a US gender clinic ( $M_{\rm age} = 15.3$ , n = 149, majority non-Hispanic white) reporting clinically elevated levels of internalizing distress (Kuper et al. 2019b). Additionally, TGD youth often have high rates of internalizing disorders, such as major depressive disorder and generalized anxiety disorder (Chodzen et al. 2019, Nahata et al. 2017, Sorbara et al. 2020; cf. Wallien et al. 2007).

Despite these well-documented disparities, several recent studies of youth with supportive parents—most of which have been conducted with a single United States—and Canada-based sample of transgender youth and their cisgender siblings and unrelated cisgender peers (e.g., Gibson et al. 2021)—have observed levels of depression in TGD children and young adolescents that are comparable or nearly comparable to those in cisgender children and young adolescents [Gibson et al. 2021 (ages 8–14,  $M_{\rm age} \approx 10$ , transgender n=148, cisgender siblings n=88, unrelated cisgender peers n=139, majority non-Hispanic white), Kuvalanka et al. 2017 (ages 6–12,  $M_{\rm age}=8.5, n=45$ , majority non-Hispanic white)]. These data suggest that TGD youth can thrive under conditions of considerable support. Still, these studies have continued to reveal that levels of anxiety in transgender youth, at least as reported by their parents, are slightly higher than they are in cisgender youth (Gibson et al. 2021).

# 3.2. Suicidality and Nonsuicidal Self-Injury

TGD youth also report high levels of suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and nonsuicidal selfinjury. A meta-analysis of studies published through 2018 about TGD children, adolescents, and young adults, the majority of which were conducted with gender clinic-based samples, estimated that 28.2% of these youth had a lifetime history of nonsuicidal self-injury, 28% had a lifetime history of suicidal ideation, and 14.8% had a lifetime history of suicide attempts (Surace et al. 2021). Research published since then has continued to report high rates (Leon et al. 2021, Sorbara et al. 2020). For example, in one study conducted across gender clinics in Canada, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom (ages 13+,  $M_{age} = 15.99$ , n = 2,771), combined rates of suicidality and self-harm in transgender adolescents were higher than they were in a nonclinical reference sample but similar to that of a sample of cisgender adolescents who were seeking or receiving mental health services (de Graaf et al. 2022). Studies conducted in general medical facilities (Reisner et al. 2015) and secondary schools (Clark et al. 2014, Eisenberg et al. 2017, Jackman et al. 2021, Ross-Reed et al. 2019, Wang et al. 2020) and with community samples (Veale et al. 2017b) and even 9to 10-year-olds (Potter et al. 2021) have also revealed similar disparities in suicidality, thoughts of death, and self-harm. These disparities arise even when comparing TGD youth and cisgender lesbian, gay, bisexual, and queer youth (Price-Feeney et al. 2020). Further, studies using gender clinic samples have estimated that rates of death by suicide among TGD youth are substantially elevated compared to rates within the general population (e.g., Van Cauwenberg et al. 2021). Together, these results suggest that rates of self-harm and suicidality (ideation, attempt, and death) among TGD adolescents are quite high.

# 3.3. Disordered Eating

TGD youth tend to report high levels of disordered eating, sometimes in attempts to halt the development of secondary sex characteristics during puberty or to change their body shape

(Coelho et al. 2019, Romito et al. 2021). In a sample of 12- to 23-year-olds at a US gender clinic ( $M_{\rm age}=17.04,\,n=164$ ), for example, over a quarter (28.0%) screened positive for features of anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa, and three-quarters screened positive for features of avoidant/restrictive food intake disorder (Linsenmeyer et al. 2021). Furthermore, in a sample of 13- to 22-year-olds at a US gender clinic ( $M_{\rm age}=16.5,\,n=106$ ), 63% reported engaging in weight manipulation to affirm their gender, and 11% of those who were assigned female at birth reported manipulating their weight to suppress menstruation (Avila et al. 2019). Studies of nonclinical samples of TGD youth also suggest that rates of disordered eating may be elevated compared to rates among cisgender youth (Coelho et al. 2019). In a survey of ninth- through twelfth-grade students in the United States ( $M_{\rm age}=16$ , majority non-Hispanic white), for example, transgender youth (n=67) were more likely than cisgender boys (n=1,117) but not cisgender girls (n=1,289) to have fasted, used diet pills, and used laxatives in the past 30 days (Guss et al. 2017).

# 3.4. Substance Use

TGD youth may also be particularly likely to use substances. In a sample of high school students in several US states and cities, for example, transgender adolescents (n = 2,845) were more likely than both cisgender girls and cisgender boys (n = 118,803) to have ever used alcohol, cigarettes, and a variety of other substances (Johns et al. 2019). Similarly, in a majority Hispanic sample of middle and high school students in the United States ( $M_{\rm age} = 15.74$ ), transgender students (n = 335) were more likely than students who did not report being transgender (n = 31,737) to have ever used alcohol, cigarettes, and marijuana (Day et al. 2017). Additionally, on average, transgender students used all three substances at earlier ages than students who did not report being transgender (Day et al. 2017). TGD youth are particularly likely to have used substances not only ever—but also recently. In a school-based sample of ninth- and eleventh-grade students in the United States, for example, TGD youth (including those who were unsure about their gender identity) (n = 2,168) reported higher rates of drinking alcohol, binge drinking, smoking cigarettes, and smoking marijuana in the past 30 days than their cisgender peers (n = 78,761) (Eisenberg et al. 2017).

## 3.5. Autism

Although not always considered a component of mental health, autism—and potential differences in rates of autism between TGD and cisgender youth—has received a great deal of attention in recent years. A number of studies, primarily from clinic-based samples, have suggested that TGD youth are more likely to be autistic—or to have autistic traits (e.g., difficulties with social communication)—than their cisgender peers (Akgül et al. 2018, Nahata et al. 2017). At a gender clinic in Australia (n = 104,  $M_{age} = 15.49$ ), for example, 22.1% of youth were thought to meet criteria for autism spectrum disorder and 9.62% reported a formal diagnosis, compared to 1.7%-2.47% in the general population (Mahfouda et al. 2019). Additionally, in a study of youth at a hospital in Turkey, those who were referred for reasons related to their gender (ages 6-18,  $M_{\rm age} = 11.56$ ) had higher levels of autistic traits than those who were at the hospital for other reasons (ages 5–17,  $M_{\rm age} = 11.42$ ) (Akgül et al. 2018). Although there are several theories about why autism and autistic traits might be more common in TGD than in cisgender youth (e.g., Jacobs et al. 2014), no data definitively address this question. Further, some have suggested that the relationship between gender diversity and autism may be overstated in the literature (Fortunato et al. 2022, Turban & van Schalkwyk 2018), whereas others reject that interpretation (Strang et al. 2018). Notably, although both the DSM-5 and ICD-11 classify autism as a "neurodevelopmental disorder," a growing neurodiversity movement suggests that it is a healthy aspect of human variation rather than a disorder in need of correction.

# 4. EXPLAINING MENTAL HEALTH DISPARITIES

Some early psychological theories of gender diversity pointed to the high levels of psychological distress in TGD children as support for their assertion that being TGD was part of a "pervasive disorder" of emotional and behavioral problems (Coates & Person 1985). Today, however, the prevailing explanation for mental health disparities between TGD and cisgender individuals comes from minority stress theory (Brooks 1981, Meyer 1995, Testa et al. 2015, Toomey 2021), which asserts that on top of the stressors that all individuals experience, members of many minority groups experience a host of unique stressors, which can harm their mental health. TGD youth experience both distal (i.e., external) stressors, such as victimization, rejection, discrimination, and nonaffirmation, and proximal (i.e., internal) stressors, such as expecting discrimination, not disclosing aspects of their identity to avoid such discrimination, and internalizing the stigma associated with their identity or group membership. In this section we describe factors that have been implicated in the higher rates of mental health concerns among TGD youth compared with cisgender youth. Many of these factors also help to explain variations in mental health within the TGD youth population and thus are also discussed in the subsequent section on risk and protective factors (Section 5.2).

# 4.1. Distal Minority Stressors

TGD youth experience several external manifestations of stigma, which, per minority stress theory, can help to explain their heightened levels of psychological distress.

**4.1.1. Family rejection.** TGD youth experience higher rates of family rejection than their cisgender counterparts, and these disparate experiences may contribute to disparate mental health outcomes (Price-Feeney et al. 2020; cf. Röder et al. 2018). In an online survey of 14- to 21-year-old TGD (n = 91) and cisgender, sexual minority (n = 3,043) youth in Australia, for example, TGD youth were more likely to experience rejection after disclosing their identity to their mothers (Jones & Hillier 2013). In a sample of US high school students, TGD youth (including those who were unsure about their gender identity) reported lower levels of family connectedness than their cisgender peers (Eisenberg et al. 2017). And in a New Zealand high school sample, transgender students were less likely than cisgender students to report that at least one parent cares a lot for them (76.1% versus 93.6%) (Clark et al. 2014). Additionally, TGD youth are at increased risk of abuse—both verbal and physical (Thoma et al. 2021)—compared to cisgender youth.

**4.1.2.** Peer victimization. Interpersonal minority stressors also extend beyond the family unit. TGD youth experience higher rates of peer victimization than their cisgender counterparts, and this victimization is often related to how they identify, act, or look (Chavanduka et al. 2021, Hatchel et al. 2019, Peng et al. 2019). Research with high school samples has shown that TGD students are more likely than cisgender students to be bullied, including physically (Clark et al. 2014, Eisenberg et al. 2017, Jackman et al. 2021, Johns et al. 2019, Wang et al. 2020). They are also more likely to be threatened or injured with a weapon at school (Jackman et al. 2021, Johns et al. 2019), to be sexually assaulted (Johns et al. 2019, Ross-Reed et al. 2019), and to experience physical and sexual dating violence (Jackman et al. 2021, Johns et al. 2019).

**4.1.3. Discrimination.** In addition to being teased and bullied for their gender identity and gender expression (Taliaferro et al. 2019) and being referred to with antitrans slurs (Price et al. 2021), TGD youth report experiencing difficulty accessing resources, such as public bathrooms and identity documents that match their gender identity, that are readily available to cisgender individuals (Chavanduka et al. 2021). TGD youth report more discrimination than their cisgender, sexual

Minority stress: the stress associated with being a member of a stigmatized minority group; also a theoretical framework for understanding the negative health outcomes that members of these groups often experience

#### Gender expression:

how one communicates or presents their gender to others—for example, through their body (e.g., voice and body shape), appearance (e.g., clothing and hairstyle), and behavior (e.g., mannerisms)

#### Social dysphoria:

distress associated with nonaffirmation of one's gender identity by others (also known as interpersonal gender dysphoria)

#### Physical dysphoria:

distress associated with an experienced incongruence between one's body and one's gender identity (also known as intrapersonal gender dysphoria) minority peers. In a US sample of LGBTQ 13- to 24-year-olds recruited through social media ( $M_{\rm age}=18$ , majority non-Hispanic white), for example, TGD individuals (n=8,380) reported higher rates of discrimination and threats and/or harm related to their sexual orientation or gender identity than did cisgender youth (n=26,428), though these differences were not tested for statistical significance (Price-Feeney et al. 2020). TGD individuals' higher rates of discrimination helped to explain their higher rates of depressive mood, suicidal ideation, and suicide attempts (Price-Feeney et al. 2020). Similarly, in a sample of LGBTQ+ sixth through twelfth graders in the United States ( $M_{\rm age}=15.5$ ), transgender students ( $n\approx4,690$ ) were more likely than cisgender students ( $n\approx8,549$ ) to report being discriminated against (77.3% versus 46.1%) (Kosciw et al. 2020).

**4.1.4.** Nonaffirmation. TGD youth also experience nonaffirmation, wherein their gender identity is denied by others (Chavanduka et al. 2021, Price et al. 2021). In a US sample of TGD 13-to 24-year-olds recruited through social media (55% under 18, n = 7,370, majority non-Hispanic white), for example, over half (58%) reported that at least once in their life, someone had told them not to use the bathroom corresponding with their gender identity (Price-Feeney et al. 2021). Additionally, among youth at a US gender clinic (ages 6-17,  $M_{\rm age} = 14.7$ , n = 224, majority non-Hispanic white), high percentages reported using bathrooms corresponding with the sex they were assigned at birth (35% of trans boys and 54.4% of trans girls) or gender-neutral bathrooms (29.0% of trans boys and 35.5% of trans girls)—often despite wanting to use a different bathroom (Kuper et al. 2019a). In the same sample, 6.6% of trans boys and 13.9% of trans girls also reported that their teacher(s) used the name they had been given at birth rather than their current name, and similar percentages (7.4% of trans boys and 13.9% of trans girls) reported that their teacher(s) used the pronouns they had been given at birth rather than gender-affirming pronouns (Kuper et al. 2019a). Experiences with nonaffirmation can result in a unique form of psychological distress among TGD youth known as social dysphoria or interpersonal gender dysphoria (Toomey 2021).

# 4.2. Proximal Minority Stressors

Although limited (Toomey 2021), the research that exists on proximal minority stressors in TGD youth suggests that societal, cultural, and community stigma can negatively affect TGD youth's mental health through effects on their thoughts, including expectations about their futures and beliefs about themselves. TGD youth and their caregivers report not only past experiences but also concerns about future experiences of rejection, victimization, and discrimination (Chodzen et al. 2019, Katz-Wise et al. 2017). Similarly, TGD adolescents are not only more likely than cisgender adolescents to report being bullied and physically harmed by another person but also more likely to report being afraid that someone at school would hurt or bother them (53.5% versus 39.8%) (Clark et al. 2014). TGD adolescents also report internalized transphobia—that is, endorsement of stigmatizing beliefs and attitudes about transgender people (Chodzen et al. 2019, Testa et al. 2015). Finally, although minimal research has explored nondisclosure, qualitative work suggests that some TGD youth may choose not to tell others that they are trans for fear that they will be verbally or physically victimized (Johns et al. 2021, Price et al. 2021).

# 4.3. Physical Dysphoria

The incongruence many TGD youth experience between their body and their gender identity likely also contributes to the high levels of mental health concerns among TGD youth. Prior to puberty, the bodies of children of all assigned sexes are fairly similar (Rogol et al. 2002). Therefore, physical dysphoria often increases—or emerges—at the beginning of puberty, when TGD individuals begin experiencing physical changes associated with their assigned sex (Pulice-Farrow

et al. 2020, Pullen Sansfaçon et al. 2019, Romito et al. 2021). Indeed, TGD youth frequently describe gender-incongruent puberty as feeling like a betrayal (Pulice-Farrow et al. 2020). The more puberty progresses, the more distress these youth often experience (Peng et al. 2019).

Physical dysphoria cannot necessarily be entirely separated from social dysphoria or from minority stress. The nonaffirmation that TGD youth experience is often grounded in others' judgments that they do not look as they should given their gender identity, and thus one contributor to physical dysphoria may be a lack of affirmation from others (Pulice-Farrow et al. 2020). An internal sense of incongruence between one's identity and appearance (Kozee et al. 2012), however, itself seems to be a major contributor to psychological distress in TGD youth, as discussed in more depth in Section 5.2.2.2.

# 5. DESCRIBING AND EXPLAINING VARIATION AMONG TRANSGENDER AND GENDER DIVERSE YOUTH

There is a great deal of variability in levels of psychological distress among TGD youth. Variables associated with more or less psychological distress can be broken down into two major categories: (a) demographic variables and (b) experiential variables (i.e., risk and protective factors).

# 5.1. Demographic Differences

Understanding variability in mental health among TGD youth requires an understanding of intersectionality theory, which asserts that axes of power and oppression—and therefore social group membership and identity—do not exist in isolation and must be understood as intersecting with one another to create unique societal positions and experiences (Crenshaw 1991). By not attending to TGD youth's intersecting identities, research runs the risk of documenting the experiences of some TGD youth and incorrectly extrapolating to other TGD youth.

**5.1.1.** Gender identity. TGD youth with different gender identities often differ in their levels of psychological distress and overall mental health.<sup>3</sup> Several studies have revealed that transmasculine and other gender diverse youth who were assigned female at birth experience more depression (Eisenberg et al. 2017, Price-Feeney et al. 2020), anxiety (Kuper et al. 2019b), and suicidality (Peterson et al. 2017, Toomey et al. 2018) and also self-harm more than transfeminine youth and other youth who were assigned male at birth (Holt et al. 2016, Rimes et al. 2019, Sorbara et al. 2020, Veale et al. 2017b). Causes of these disparities have not been sufficiently explored, but in at least some samples, transmasculine youth and other youth who were assigned female at birth have reported feeling less connected to their families (Eisenberg et al. 2017) and more unsafe at home (Peterson et al. 2017). They have also reported more discrimination and nonaffirmation (Chen et al. 2021; Price-Feeney et al. 2020, 2021) as well as higher rates of nondisclosure (Chen et al. 2021). Finally, some research suggests that TGD youth who were assigned female at birth report less pride in their identity (Chen et al. 2021).

Not all studies, however, have observed these differences. Some have found no differences based on assigned sex or gender identity (Nahata et al. 2017, Reisner et al. 2015, Röder et al. 2018, Surace et al. 2021), others have observed more distress in youth assigned male at birth (de Graaf et al. 2018, de Vries et al. 2011a), and still others have observed mixed results across different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Some research has described gender diverse youth in terms of their assigned sex rather than their gender identity. Referring to gender diverse people this way is a form of nonaffirmation and is not considered best practice (Bouman et al. 2017). Given that there is no way for the current authors to determine the gender identities of these youth, however, in this section, we describe them according to their assigned sex at birth.

indicators of mental health (Chen et al. 2021; Holt et al. 2016; Linsenmeyer et al. 2021; Skagerberg et al. 2013a,b).

- **5.1.2. Age.** TGD youth of different ages may also differ in their mental health. Although few studies have examined the mental health trajectories of TGD youth, research on the relationship between age and mental health in gender diverse youth suggests that psychological distress may increase over time—and may be particularly heightened during puberty and adolescence (Skagerberg et al. 2013b). In a sample of 5- to 18-year-old, majority white British youth referred to a UK gender clinic ( $M_{\rm age}=14$ ), for example, adolescents (ages 12–18, n=218) experienced higher rates of low mood/depression (49.7%), self-harm (44.1%), thoughts of self-harm (48.1%), suicidal ideation (39.5%), and suicide attempts (15.8%) than children (5–11) (7.3%, 14.6%, 19.5%, 14.6%, and 2.4%, respectively) (Holt et al. 2016). Additionally, a chart review of 10- to 17-year-old patients at a gender clinic in Canada (median age = 15.4, plurality white) revealed that older youth (15–17, n=184) reported higher rates of depressive disorders (46%) than younger youth (<15, n=116, 30%) (Sorbara et al. 2020). Older youth's worse mental health seemed to be driven by being at later stages of gender-incongruent puberty than younger youth (Sorbara et al. 2020). Not all studies, however, have observed a negative relationship between age and mental health (e.g., Linsenmeyer et al. 2021), suggesting that it is not inevitable.
- **5.1.3.** Other identities. Other dimensions of social identity and group membership, such as sexual orientation and race/ethnicity, have also been explored. School-based studies of TGD adolescents in the United States have found that sexual minority TGD adolescents are more likely to have experienced recent depression, engaged in nonsuicidal self-injury, and attempted suicide than heterosexual TGD adolescents (Atteberry-Ash et al. 2021, Toomey et al. 2018). Comparisons between TGD youth of different races/ethnicities have yielded mixed results, with some studies (Atteberry-Ash et al. 2021) but not others (Toomey et al. 2018, Vance et al. 2021) reporting that youth of color are at higher risk of suicidality and depression than white youth.

#### 5.2. Risk and Protective Factors

Experiences associated with increased or decreased psychological distress not only systematically vary between different demographic subgroups but also vary among individuals.

- **5.2.1. Interpersonal risk factors.** How TGD youth are treated by the people in their lives can make them more or less prone to experiencing psychological distress. In general, poor-quality relations—and relationships marked by rejection and victimization in particular—may increase the likelihood that TGD youth will struggle emotionally.
- 5.2.1.1. Families. The way TGD youth's families function—including the way family members treat TGD individuals and their identities—has been linked to mental health outcomes. The worse a family's general functioning (i.e., the less understanding, supportive, open, communicative, and accepting a family is, in general), the more emotional and behavioral problems TGD children (Sievert et al. 2021) and adolescents (Levitan et al. 2019) tend to experience. Parental rejection of a child's gender identity in particular has been tied to depression and anxiety [e.g., in Thailand (Yadegarfard et al. 2014) and the United States (Pariseau et al. 2019)], and gender-based rejection from a sibling has been linked to increased likelihood of suicidal ideation (Pariseau et al. 2019). Adolescents in qualitative studies report that their parents' rejecting behaviors—including misgendering them, denying that they are truly transgender, criticizing them, and cutting them off from crucial resources (Johnson et al. 2020b, Newhook et al. 2018)—are psychologically detrimental and can exacerbate their existing mental health issues (Johnson et al. 2020b). Additionally,

parental abuse has been linked to negative mental health outcomes, such as suicide attempts, among TGD youth (e.g., Grossman & D'Augelli 2007).

- 5.2.1.2. Peers and school. Peer relations also strongly predict mental health in TGD children (Kuvalanka et al. 2017, Sievert et al. 2021) and adolescents (Hatchel et al. 2019, Levitan et al. 2019, Van Cauwenberg et al. 2021). One limitation of some studies is that they do not disentangle the effects of generally negative peer relations and peer relations that involve victimization (i.e., bullying, harassment, and/or violence). Other studies, however, have found that among TGD youth, higher levels of peer victimization in particular are associated with poorer mental health outcomes, including higher levels or likelihood of distress, depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and nonsuicidal self-injury (Hatchel et al. 2019, Taliaferro et al. 2018, Witcomb et al. 2019). Peer victimization may influence mental health indirectly, by reducing individuals' sense of belonging at school (Hatchel et al. 2019). The victimization that TGD youth experience is often specific to their gender identity, expression, or perceived sexual orientation (Eisenberg et al. 2017), and such victimization has been tied to increased psychological distress (e.g., Price-Feeney et al. 2021), including depression and anxiety (Chodzen et al. 2019) and lifetime history of suicide attempts (Austin et al. 2022).
- **5.2.2. Intrapersonal risk factors.** Although interpersonal relationships and interactions seem to play a major role in shaping TGD youth's mental health, intrapersonal experiences may also contribute.
- 5.2.2.1. Proximal minority stressors. Negative thoughts and feelings about being gender diverse may increase TGD youth's vulnerability to psychological distress and mental health concerns. Among 12- to 18-year-olds at a US gender clinic ( $M_{\rm age}=15.46$ , n=109, majority non-Hispanic white), for example, higher levels of internalized transphobia were associated with increased odds of meeting criteria for generalized anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder (Chodzen et al. 2019). And in a community sample of transgender 14- to 18-year-olds in the United States and Canada, more internalized anti-LGBTQ stigma was associated with increased odds of having considered suicide in the past 6 months (Austin et al. 2022).
- 5.2.2.2. Physical dysphoria. A sense of incongruence between one's identity and one's body and/or appearance (Kozee et al. 2012) has also been connected to mental health in TGD youth. In a US gender clinic sample, for example, this felt incongruence predicted increased odds of meeting criteria for major depressive disorder (Chodzen et al. 2019). Additionally, in a majority non-Hispanic white sample of 12- to 18-year-olds who were assigned female at birth at a US gender clinic ( $M_{\rm age} = 15.3, n = 156$ ), chest dysphoria predicted higher levels of anxiety and depression (Sood et al. 2021). For some, the physical changes that occur during gender-incongruent puberty and/or changes in how others view them are so intolerable that they are associated with increased likelihood of contemplating suicide. In a sample of 12- to 18-year-old TGD individuals (including those who were uncertain about their gender identity) in China ( $M_{\rm age} = 16.7, n = 385$ ), for example, rates of lifetime suicidal ideation were higher in those who felt pain and depressed mood at the onset of puberty than in those who did not (Peng et al. 2019), and in a convenience sample of 15- to 21-year-old, binary-identified transgender youth in the United States ( $M_{\rm age} = 18.37, n = 55$ , majority white), those who had attempted suicide had more negative beliefs about others' evaluations of their bodies/appearances than those who had not (Grossman & D'Augelli 2007).
- **5.2.3. Interpersonal protective factors.** Several factors also have the potential to protect against psychological distress, promote resilience in TGD youth, and buffer the effects of negative experiences (Testa et al. 2015).

**5.2.3.1.** Families. Family connectedness and support may help to boost psychological well-being in TGD youth (e.g., Weinhardt et al. 2019). In a majority white community sample of TGD 14- to 18-year-olds in Canada (n = 323), for example, greater family connectedness, including a sense that an adolescent's parents cared about them, was associated with reduced odds of past-year nonsuicidal self-injury and past-month despair (Veale et al. 2017a). Similarly, in a majority non-Hispanic white, school-based sample of TGD adolescents in the United States (n = 2,168), having caring parents who teens felt they could talk to was associated with lower levels of depressive symptoms, suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and substance use, even when controlling for other forms of connectedness (e.g., with peers and other adults) (Gower et al. 2018). Qualitatively, transgender adolescents also report that parental support helps them to feel more hopeful and connected—and improves their mental health (Johnson et al. 2020b).

5.2.3.2. Peers and school. Connectedness to and support from one's peers and school community may also play a protective role (Austin et al. 2022). In a community sample in Canada, for example, having caring friends was associated with reduced odds of having attempted suicide in the past year (Veale et al. 2017b), and greater school connectedness and belonging were associated with reduced odds of past-month stress and past-year despair (Veale et al. 2017a). Similarly, in a school-based sample of TGD adolescents in Minnesota, connectedness to friends and teachers was associated with reduced psychological distress (Gower et al. 2018). Social support may also buffer the negative effects of victimization. A community-based study of transgender youth in the United States and Canada (ages 3–15,  $M_{\rm age} = 9.41$ , n = 265, majority non-Hispanic white), for example, found that although experiences of victimization were generally associated with internalizing symptoms, this association did not exist among youth with very high levels of support from their peers or their schools (Durwood et al. 2021).

Qualitatively, youth report that finding community, especially with other TGD individuals, can promote resilience, and they often find such community outside of their school and home—and frequently online (Evans et al. 2017). Although TGD individuals often experience harassment online, they also find support and build connections with similar others there (Austin et al. 2020, Selkie et al. 2020). They report that in online spaces, they can be their authentic selves, find a sense of safety and belonging, and experience hope (Austin et al. 2020).

5.2.3.3. Affirmation. One critical avenue for enhancing resilience in the face of minority stress is through gender affirmation. The more TGD youth's parents use their chosen name, the less depression and anxiety they experience (Fontanari et al. 2020). And more broadly, the more adolescents with a chosen name are able to go by that name (rather than their given name or, as it is sometimes called, their "dead name"), the better off their mental health tends to be (Russell et al. 2018). Indeed, in one large US survey of TGD adolescents, rates of suicide attempts were lower among those who reported that most or all people in their lives used affirming pronouns (12%) than among those who reported that a lot (19%), some (24%), a few (25%), or no (28%) people used affirming pronouns (Trevor Proj. 2020). Additionally, adolescents who had access to gender-affirming undergarments and clothing had lower rates of suicide attempts (14%) than those who did not (26%) (Trevor Proj. 2020).

**5.2.4. Intrapersonal protective factors.** In addition to their relationships with other people, TGD youth's relationship with themselves can enhance their resilience. In particular, pride—or acceptance and celebration of their own identity—may help them to cope with minority stressors and protect them from the potential negative consequences of stigma (Hidalgo et al. 2019, Testa et al. 2015). One study of adolescents at a US gender clinic, for example, found that increased pride was associated with reduced symptoms of depression and social anxiety (Hidalgo et al. 2019).

Seeing positive news about trans people—including actors, politicians, and athletes—may contribute to a sense of pride (Pham et al. 2020). Although pride is considered a key protective factor in models of gender minority stress and resilience (Hidalgo et al. 2019, Testa et al. 2015), its protective effects, and the effects of other positive intrapersonal factors, have not been sufficiently explored.

## 6. INTERVENTIONS

Interventions that target predictors of distress and/or leverage resiliency factors have the potential to improve mental health in TGD youth. Most interventions that show evidence of potential effectiveness are grounded in the gender affirmative model, meaning they support youth in expressing and living in accordance with their gender identity "without experiencing restriction, criticism, or ostracism" (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft 2018, p. 13). The gender affirmative model is rooted in an understanding that TGD youth know better than anyone else who they are and that a key part of supporting these youth is enabling them to live in line with their gender identity safely and comfortably (Ehrensaft 2017).

# 6.1. Psychosocial Interventions for Families

Psychosocial interventions often focus on TGD youth's family members. Interventions recommended by professional societies (e.g., Coleman et al. 2022) and expert clinician reports (Malpas et al. 2022) often aim to increase factors associated with increased resilience and reduced risk for mental health challenges among TGD youth, such as parental awareness, acceptance, and support. Specifically, clinicians recommend educating caregivers about gender diversity and the importance of supporting their child; providing space for caregivers to share their thoughts, feelings, and questions and receive support; working with caregivers and youth separately and together; working with families' broader communities; prioritizing consideration of intersectional identities; and connecting caregivers and youth to others with similar experiences (Malpas et al. 2022). Few specific, psychosocial interventions have been published (Malpas et al. 2022). The programs that have been written about in the literature (e.g., Dangaltcheva et al. 2021, Matsuno & Israel 2021), however, focus on reducing antitransgender prejudice and increasing knowledge and support. Parents report interest in participating in support groups (Lawlis et al. 2020), and those who have participated report having positive experiences (Hillier & Torg 2019).

# 6.2. Psychotherapeutic Interventions for Youth

Other interventions focus on TGD youth themselves. Such interventions can be conducted in person or virtually. Indeed, TGD adolescents report that online game-based interventions can provide them with relatively safe spaces to explore and affirm their gender identity—for example, by using avatars, names, and pronouns that correspond with their gender identity even before they have socially transitioned (Strauss et al. 2019). TGD youth also express interest in in-person interventions (Lawlis et al. 2020), and interventions that connect them with other TGD youth face-to-face have shown preliminary evidence of effectiveness at increasing social support and feelings of inclusion (Davidson et al. 2019).

Additionally, when classic psychotherapeutic interventions, like CBT, are tailored to the needs of TGD youth, they may reduce psychological distress. After participating in a CBT intervention designed to help TGD adolescents develop skills to cope with minority stressors, for example, youth (ages 16–18,  $M_{\rm age}=17.6$ , n=8, majority non-Hispanic white) experienced reductions in depression (though surprisingly, not changes in their use of coping strategies), and these improvements held up 3 months later (Austin et al. 2018). When such interventions are not tailored to TGD youth, however, they may end up invalidating youth's identities (e.g., by asking them to

Social transition: the process of taking nonmedical steps to live in accordance with one's gender identity; can include changing one's pronouns, appearance, and/or

# Gender euphoria: "a joyful feeling of rightness in one's

gender/sex" (W.J. Beischel et al.) identify their gender as exclusively male, female, transgender, or intersex or by giving them only two choices—female and male—for an avatar) (Lucassen et al. 2021). Consequently, they may be less effective than they are in cisgender youth or not effective at all (Lucassen et al. 2021). Even when interventions are designed with TGD youth in mind, a one-size-fits-all approach to intervention development may not be effective. Theoretical work notes that different subgroups of TGD youth (e.g., those in supportive versus unsupportive environments and those with different levels of psychological distress) have different needs, and different approaches to psychotherapeutic interventions with these different subgroups are likely needed (Coyne et al. 2020).

### 6.3. Medical Interventions

A third type of intervention for TGD youth is gender-affirming medical care. For TGD youth who have not completed puberty, gender-affirming medical care may begin with puberty suppression (i.e., blockers) to halt gender-incongruent puberty. For peripubertal or postpubertal youth, gender-affirming medical care may continue—or begin—with gender-affirming hormone therapy (e.g., estrogen for transfeminine youth and testosterone for transmasculine youth) to initiate gender-congruent puberty. Gender-affirming medical care may also include menstrual suppression. Whereas gender-incongruent puberty often produces distress in TGD youth (Pulice-Farrow et al. 2020, Pullen Sansfaçon et al. 2019), halting gender-incongruent puberty, as well as facilitating gender-congruent puberty, can often relieve this distress and even produce feelings of gender euphoria—"a joyful feeling of rightness in one's gender/sex" (Beischel et al. 2022, p. 281).

Notably, not all TGD youth seek gender-affirming medical care. However, for those who do, both cross-sectional and longitudinal research suggest that receiving it can be psychologically beneficial and even life-saving. In a majority non-Hispanic white, US online sample, for example, those who were taking gender-affirming hormones were less likely to have experienced depression in the last 2 weeks and to have attempted suicide in the last year than those who wanted to take but were not taking hormones (Green et al. 2022). Additionally, the majority of longitudinal studies that have compared mental health before and after initiation of gender-affirming medical care have observed improvements in mental health (Achille et al. 2020, Arnoldussen et al. 2022, Costa et al. 2015, Kaltiala et al. 2020, Kuper et al. 2020; cf. Carmichael et al. 2021, Hisle-Gorman et al. 2021; see Supplemental Table 1 for an overview of all of the known studies reporting on mental health before and after receipt of gender-affirming medical care). Adolescents at a gender clinic in the Netherlands, for example, showed decreases in levels of depression after an average of approximately 2 years of puberty suppression ( $M_{age} = 13.65, n = 70$ ) (de Vries et al. 2011b). Adolescents at a gender clinic in the United States ( $M_{age} = 16.59$ , n = 47, majority non-Hispanic white) showed reductions in suicidality after an average of just under a year of gender-affirming hormone therapy (Allen et al. 2019). Similarly, adolescents at a gender clinic in Spain ( $M_{age} = 16$ , n = 23, majority "Caucasian of Spanish descent") showed reductions in anxiety and depression after a year of gender-affirming hormone therapy (López de Lara et al. 2020).

Still, puberty suppression and hormones are unlikely to fully eliminate physical dysphoria. Given that puberty suppression does not produce any physical changes and only prevents further gender-incongruent changes, its effects may be limited (de Vries et al. 2011b, Carmichael et al. 2021). And though gender-affirming hormone therapy does produce noticeable bodily changes, it may not produce all of the changes that TGD youth desire or require (Romito et al. 2021), and it cannot undo certain changes that may have already occurred (e.g., breast development, voice deepening, facial hair growth). For some TGD youth who have begun—or completed—gender-incongruent puberty, certain aspects of physical dysphoria may only be able to be resolved through surgical intervention (Mehringer et al. 2021). In a sample of adolescents at a gender clinic in Hamburg, Germany, for example, only after gender-affirming surgery (primarily chest

# Supplemental Material >

surgery)—and not after puberty suppression or gender-affirming hormone therapy alone—were levels of internalizing symptoms comparable to those of the general population (Becker-Hebly et al. 2021).

Notably, many TGD youth who report a need for gender-affirming medical care face barriers to accessing this care. For example, in a majority non-Hispanic white, US online sample of transgender and nonbinary 13- to 17-year-olds who wanted gender-affirming hormone therapy ( $M_{\rm age} = 15.17$ , n = 3,235), less than 9% were currently receiving it (Green et al. 2022).

# 7. CHALLENGES, LIMITATIONS, AND FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Although research on the mental health of TGD youth has grown in recent years, certain sub-groups remain underconsidered, certain topics underexamined, and certain methods underused. To gain a fuller understanding of the mental health of TGD youth, more research—and different research—is needed.

# 7.1. Understudied Subgroups

The majority of research on TGD youth has recruited samples through gender clinics or LGBTQ+ community organizations or obtained data from school surveys. Accordingly, several groups of TGD youth—including youth of color, youth from low-socioeconomic-status backgrounds, rural youth, prepubescent children, and nonbinary youth—have been underrepresented.

Because accessing gender-affirming medical care often requires medical insurance and/or other financial resources, youth whose families do not have these resources—who are disproportionately from minoritized racial groups—are often underrepresented in clinic-based samples. This underrepresentation is particularly notable given that higher percentages of Latinx, American Indian and Alaskan Native, Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, and multiracial youth than white youth identify as TGD (Eisenberg et al. 2017, Herman et al. 2022). Additionally, TGD youth are overrepresented in the foster care system and among homeless youth (Baams et al. 2021), and these youth are also unlikely to be well represented in clinic-based samples. Because gender clinics are often located within large hospitals in urban areas, youth who live in rural areas and small towns (which TGD may experience as particularly hostile; Paceley et al. 2017) are also likely underrepresented in clinic-based samples. As intersectionality theory makes clear, being transgender does not exist in isolation from other social identities, group memberships, or axes of oppression, and the experiences of TGD youth with different intersecting identities and group memberships differ from one another. Having multiple, intersecting marginalized identities can make TGD youth particularly vulnerable to stigma and minority stress and may therefore increase vulnerability to psychological distress. As an example, TGD youth of color-and American Indian/Alaska Native/Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander TGD youth in particular—have been reported to have higher rates of suicidality than non-Hispanic white TGD youth (Atteberry-Ash et al. 2021).

Prepubescent children are also underrepresented in the literature. Because gender-affirming medical care does not begin until the onset of puberty, prepubertal children are often missing from clinic-based samples. Further, school-based surveys typically do not ask about both assigned sex and gender identity until secondary school. As a result, relatively little is known about the mental health of TGD children—or even about the percentage of youth who identify as TGD at earlier ages. Furthermore, since prepubertal children are typically recruited for research through their parents, recruiting children whose parents are unsupportive and nonaffirming is particularly challenging.

wnloaded from www.annualreviews.org.

Finally, although research has begun to consider the needs of nonbinary individuals, relatively little is known about their mental health and how it compares to that of transgender girls and boys. The experiences of nonbinary and binary transgender individuals have similarities, but they also differ in critical ways—with binary individuals tending to experience nonaffirmation (i.e., others' refusal to recognize that they are part of a certain gender group) and nonbinary individuals tending to experience invalidation (e.g., others' dismissal of the very legitimacy or realness of their gender identity) (Johnson et al. 2020a). Nonbinary adolescents report not being exposed to other non-binary people, being misgendered by people who are dismissive of nonbinary or gender-neutral pronouns (like they and them), and being concerned that other people do not see them as "really trans" or "trans enough" (Johnson et al. 2020a). Research has begun to compare the mental health of binary transgender and nonbinary youth, with some studies finding that nonbinary youth tend to have particularly poor mental health, at least when compared to transgender girls (Toomey et al. 2018, Veale et al. 2017b; cf. Rimes et al. 2019). More research on the mental health of nonbinary youth is needed.

# 7.2. Underexamined Topics

In addition to looking beyond convenience samples and recruiting understudied subgroups of TGD youth, future research would benefit from looking beyond negative interpersonal experiences and considering the wide range of experiences in TGD youth's lives.

**7.2.1.** Structural risk and protective factors. As reviewed here, a great deal of research has explored interpersonal—and, to some extent, intrapersonal—factors associated with increased or decreased levels of psychological distress in TGD youth. Structural factors, however, have not been sufficiently explored. In recent years, several governmental bodies have taken steps to restrict TGD youth's access to gender-affirming medical care and/or single-gender spaces and groups that align with their gender identity. Although the effects of these actions have not yet been systematically examined, research on the importance of affirmation, including gender-affirming medical care (described previously and in **Supplemental Table 1**), as well as on the relationship between structural stigma and mental health more broadly (e.g., Hatzenbuehler 2017), suggests that these actions are likely detrimental to the psychological well-being of TGD youth (Barbee et al. 2022). Indeed, parents express deep fear and concern about the consequences of legal restrictions on their children's access to gender-affirming medical care (e.g., Kidd et al. 2021). Understanding the effects of these policies on the mental health of TGD youth is critical (Paceley et al. 2023), as is examining the potentially protective effects of other policies, such as nondiscrimination laws, that support TGD youth.

**7.2.2.** Positive psychological experiences. Much research on mental health in TGD youth has focused on negative psychological experiences. These youth, however, often demonstrate resilience in the face of minority stress. Support, affirmation, community, connection, and belonging may not only reduce negative psychological experiences but also boost positive ones. Researchers have only recently begun to consider gender euphoria in TGD adults (e.g., Beischel et al. 2022), and to our knowledge, published research has yet to explore this phenomenon in TGD youth. At least one study, however, explored the related concept of gender positivity and found that it was connected to affirmation in the form of both chosen name use by mothers and gender-affirming hormone therapy (Fontanari et al. 2020). Consideration of gender euphoria and other positive psychological phenomena is vital to understanding the full range of mental health—related experiences in TGD youth as well as to moving away from pathologizing and deficit-based understandings of gender diversity.

7.2.3. Psychosocial interventions. Although much has been written on interventions for TGD youth and their families (Malpas et al. 2022), little of this writing is grounded in published empirical work that examines the effectiveness of such interventions. Given that family support, connectedness, and affirmation are linked to psychological well-being in TGD youth (Gower et al. 2018, Veale et al. 2017a, Weinhardt et al. 2019), interventions that promote these protective factors would likely be effective at improving mental health. Causal relationships between these variables, however, have not been established, and methods for increasing family support, connectedness, and affirmation have not been thoroughly assessed. Additionally, research on interventions to directly promote resilience in TGD youth is lacking. Although there is some evidence that pride is associated with reduced depression and anxiety in TGD youth (Hidalgo et al. 2019), neither this relationship nor strategies for promoting pride have been investigated extensively. Finally, given how much time TGD youth spend at school and how robust the link between peer victimization and psychological distress in TGD youth is (Austin et al. 2022, Chodzen et al. 2019, Hatchel et al. 2019, Price-Feeney et al. 2021, Taliaferro et al. 2018, Witcomb et al. 2019), it is notable that minimal research has been published on the potential effectiveness of school-based interventions. Some research has suggested that the more students hear transphobic language, the less likely they are to intervene when they witness antitransgender harassment and that the more they see others intervening, the more likely they are to intervene themselves (Wernick et al. 2014). Future research to develop interventions might capitalize on these findings.

#### 7.3. Underused Methods

The methods that can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions, particularly medical interventions, for TGD youth are limited given that conducting experimental research (and thus withholding or delaying care for some youth) is generally considered highly unethical. That being said, several other underused methods could enhance the quality of research being conducted on mental health in TGD youth.

**7.3.1.** Longitudinal research. The bulk of the research on mental health in TGD youth has been cross-sectional. To understand the trajectories of mental health within this group—as well as the long-term effects of interventions (and noninterventions)—more longitudinal work is needed. Longitudinal studies would also benefit from comparing the mental health trajectories of TGD youth who are socially and medically transitioning to those of their cisgender counterparts, as well as from exploring the mechanisms by which social and medical transition might improve mental health in TGD youth (e.g., through reduced physical dysphoria, reduced experiences with misgendering, and increased hope for the future).

**7.3.2.** Community-based participatory research. Another key way to improve the quality of research on TGD youth's mental health is through community-based participatory research, in which community members (in this case, TGD youth) serve as collaborators who contribute to knowledge creation rather than as subjects from whom knowledge is extracted. TGD youth can be included at every step of the research process—from inception to data collection to analysis, contextualization, and interpretation and finally dissemination (Adams et al. 2017, DeChants et al. 2020). To date, most research on TGD youth's mental health has been conducted largely by cisgender academics and health care providers, sometimes using nonaffirming frameworks—for example, by defining youth by the sex they were assigned at birth rather than by their gender identity and by describing TGD youth as having psychological disorders like "gender identity disorder." The field would benefit from highlighting and funding the work of TGD researchers, facilitating training of future TGD researchers, and involving TGD youth in the research process (e.g., by creating Community Advisory Boards).

TGD and cisgender researchers, with input from TGD youth, can work to ensure that research uses appropriate and nonstigmatizing frameworks, focuses on questions that are relevant to TGD youth's lives, and has the potential to enhance their well-being.

#### 8. CONCLUSIONS

TGD children and adolescents, who constitute an increasingly visible yet highly stigmatized group, have elevated levels and rates of psychological distress and mental health concerns compared to their cisgender peers. Manifestations of stigma (i.e., rejection, victimization, discrimination, and nonaffirmation), which function as minority stressors, can help to explain why these youth experience more depression, anxiety, suicidality, and nonsuicidal self-injury than their cisgender counterparts. Minority stressors also help to explain variability in mental health among TGD youth—that is, why some subgroups (with different intersectional identities) and some individuals fare better or worse than others. Despite the stark contrasts in mental health outcomes between TGD and cisgender youth, recent research indicates that these disparities can be reduced or eliminated and that with social support, affirmation, and appropriate medical care, TGD youth can thrive. Additional research is needed to gain a fuller understanding of the experiences and mental health of multiply marginalized TGD youth as well as prepubertal children, to develop evidence-based psychosocial interventions for TGD youth and their families, and to examine the potential consequences of policies that target TGD adolescents' access to gender-affirming medical care and single-gender spaces and groups that align with their identity. Longitudinal research can help to explore trajectories of TGD youth's mental health over time and the mechanisms by which gender-affirming medical care may improve mental health. At a time when TGD youth are both highly visible and highly stigmatized, this research is more important than ever.

## **SUMMARY POINTS**

- Although within the field of psychology, gender diversity itself has been increasingly depathologized in recent years, transgender and gender diverse (TGD) youth still experience more psychological distress and mental health concerns than their cisgender peers, including their cisgender, sexual minority peers.
- 2. TGD youth experience family rejection, peer victimization, discrimination, and non-affirmation, which, per minority stress theory, can help to explain these mental health disparities, as well as variation in psychological distress among TGD youth.
- 3. TGD youth may experience both social dysphoria (interpersonal gender dysphoria) (i.e., distress associated with others' nonaffirmation of their gender identities) and physical dysphoria (intrapersonal gender dysphoria) (i.e., distress associated with an experienced incongruence between their bodies and their gender identities), though not all TGD youth experience gender dysphoria.
- 4. Both social affirmation and medical affirmation are associated with lower levels of psychological distress in TGD youth, yet many youth experience barriers to accessing gender-affirming medical care.
- 5. Limitations of the work to date include few studies focused on youth of color and non-binary youth, limited research on psychosocial interventions, and minimal longitudinal and community-based participatory research studies.

# **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

In addition to the support reported in the Acknowledgments, K.R.O. receives funding from the National Science Foundation and the MacArthur Foundation. She served as an unpaid expert in the case of *Centre for Gender Advocacy et al. v. Attorney General of Québec*. She serves as an unpaid member of the LGBTQ National Advisory Council for Big Brothers Big Sisters of America and the Board of the Cognitive Development Society. She was a paid consultant for two entertainment production companies in 2020–2021. The authors are not aware of any other affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

N.M.W's time and related work described in this review were supported by the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities of the National Institutes of Health under award F32MD017147. K.R.O.'s time and related work described in this review were supported by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health & Human Development of the National Institutes of Health under award R01HD092347. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. The authors would like to thank Grey Raber for assistance with reviewing the literature on transgender and gender diverse youth and mental health.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Achille C, Taggart T, Eaton NR, Osipoff J, Tafuri K, et al. 2020. Longitudinal impact of gender-affirming endocrine intervention on the mental health and well-being of transgender youths: preliminary results. Int. 7. Pediatr. Endocrinol. 2020:8
- Adams N, Pearce R, Veale J, Radix A, Castro D, et al. 2017. Guidance and ethical considerations for undertaking transgender health research and Institutional Review Boards adjudicating this research. *Transgend. Health* 2(1):165–75
- Aitken M, Steensma TD, Blanchard R, VanderLaan DP, Wood H, et al. 2015. Evidence for an altered sex ratio in clinic-referred adolescents with gender dysphoria. J. Sex. Med. 12:756–63
- Akgül GY, Ayaz AB, Yildirim B, Fis NP. 2018. Autistic traits and executive functions in children and adolescents with gender dysphoria. *J. Sex Marital Ther.* 44(7):619–26
- Allen LR, Watson LB, Egan AM, Moser CN. 2019. Well-being and suicidality among transgender youth after gender-affirming hormones. Clin. Pract. Pediatr. Psychol. 7(3):302–11
- Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2022. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatr. Publ. 5th ed., text rev.
- Arnoldussen M, van der Miesen AIR, Elzinga WS, Alberse A-ME, Popma A, et al. 2022. Self-perception of transgender adolescents after gender-affirming treatment: a follow-up study into young adulthood. LGBT Health 9(4):238–46
- Atteberry-Ash B, Kattari SK, Harner V, Prince DM, Verdino AP, et al. 2021. Differential experiences of mental health among transgender and gender-diverse youth in Colorado. *Bebav. Sci.* 11(4):48–61
- Austin A, Craig SL, D'Souza SA. 2018. An AFFIRMative cognitive behavioral intervention for transgender youth: preliminary effectiveness. Prof. Psychol. Res. Pract. 49(1):1–8
- Austin A, Craig SL, D'Souza S, McInroy LB. 2022. Suicidality among transgender youth: elucidating the role of interpersonal risk factors. *7. Interpers. Violence* 37(5–6):NP2696–718
- Austin A, Craig SL, Navega N, McInroy LB. 2020. It's my safe space: the life-saving role of the internet in the lives of transgender and gender diverse youth. *Int. 7. Transgend. Health* 21(1):33–44
- Avila JT, Golden NH, Aye T. 2019. Eating disorder screening in transgender youth. J. Adolesc. Health 65(6):815–17

- Baams L, Wilson BDM, Russell ST. 2021. LGBTQ youth in unstable housing and foster care. *Pediatrics* 143(3):e20174211
- Barbee H, Deal C, Gonzales G. 2022. Anti-transgender legislation—a public health concern for transgender youth. *JAMA Pediatr*. 176(2):125–26
- Becker-Hebly I, Fahrenkrug S, Campion F, Richter-Appelt H, Schulte-Markwort M, Barkmann C. 2021. Psychosocial health in adolescents and young adults with gender dysphoria before and after gender-affirming medical interventions: a descriptive study from the Hamburg Gender Identity Service. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 30(11):1755–67
- Beischel WJ, Gauvin SEM, van Anders SM. 2022. "A little shiny gender breakthrough": community understandings of gender euphoria. *Int. 7. Transgend. Health* 23:274–94
- Bouman WP, Schwend AS, Motmans J, Smiley A, Safer JD, et al. 2017. Language and trans health. *Int. J. Transgenderism* 18(1):1–6
- Brooks VR. 1981. Minority Stress and Lesbian Women. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books
- Carmichael P, Butler G, Masic U, Cole TJ, De Stavola BL, et al. 2021. Short-term outcomes of pubertal suppression in a selected cohort of 12 to 15 year old young people with persistent gender dysphoria in the UK. *PLOS ONE* 16(2):e0243894
- Castro-Peraza ME, García-Acosta JM, Delgado N, Perdomo-Hernández AM, Sosa-Alvarez MI, et al. 2019. Gender identity: the human right of depathologization. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16(6):978–89
- Chavanduka TMD, Gamarel KE, Todd KP, Stephenson R. 2021. Responses to the gender minority stress and resilience scales among transgender and nonbinary youth. *J. LGBT Youth* 18(2):135–54
- Chen D, Abrams M, Clark L, Ehrensaft D, Tishelman AC, et al. 2021. Psychosocial characteristics of transgender youth seeking gender-affirming medical treatment: baseline findings from the Trans Youth Care Study. *J. Adolesc. Health* 68(6):1104–11
- Chodzen G, Hidalgo MA, Chen D, Garofalo R. 2019. Minority stress factors associated with depression and anxiety among transgender and gender-nonconforming youth. *J. Adolesc. Health* 64(4):467–71
- Clark TC, Lucassen MFG, Bullen P, Denny SJ, Fleming TM, et al. 2014. The health and well-being of transgender high school students: results from the New Zealand Adolescent Health Survey (Youth'12). *J. Adolesc. Health Care* 55(1):93–99
- Coates S, Person ES. 1985. Extreme boyhood femininity: isolated behavior or pervasive disorder? J. Am. Acad. Child Psychiatry 24(6):702–9
- Coelho JS, Suen J, Clark BA, Marshall SK, Geller J, Lam PY. 2019. Eating disorder diagnoses and symptom presentation in transgender youth: a scoping review. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 21(11):107
- Coleman E, Radix AE, Bouman WP, Brown GR, de Vries ALC, et al. 2022. Standards of Care for the Health of Transgender and Gender Diverse People, Version 8. *Int. J. Transgend. Health* 23(Suppl. 1):S1–259
- Costa R, Dunsford M, Skagerberg E, Holt V, Carmichael P, Colizzi M. 2015. Psychological support, puberty suppression, and psychosocial functioning in adolescents with gender dysphoria. *J. Sex. Med.* 12(11):2206–14
- Coyne CA, Poquiz JL, Janssen A, Chen D. 2020. Evidence-based psychological practice for transgender and non-binary youth: defining the need, framework for treatment adaptation, and future directions. *Evid.-Based Pract. Child Adolesc. Ment. Health* 5(3):340–53
- Crenshaw K. 1991. Mapping the margins: intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. Stanford Law Rev. 43(6):1241–99
- Dangaltcheva A, Booth C, Moretti MM. 2021. Transforming connections: a trauma-informed and attachment-based program to promote sensitive parenting of trans and gender non-conforming youth. *Front. Psychol.* 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.643823
- Davidson S, Morrison A, Skagerberg E, Russell I, Hames A. 2019. A therapeutic group for young people with diverse gender identifications. *Clin. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 24(2):241–57
- Day JK, Fish JN, Perez-Brumer A, Hatzenbuehler ML, Russell ST. 2017. Transgender youth substance use disparities: results from a population-based sample. 7. Adolesc. Health 61(6):729–35
- DeChants JP, Grant JM, Kattari SK. 2020. Conducting community-based participatory research with transgender/nonbinary individuals and communities. In *Social Work and Health Care Practice with Transgender and Nonbinary Individuals and Communities*, ed. SK Kattari, MK Kinney, L Kattari, NE Walls, pp. 316–30. London: Routledge

- de Graaf NM, Cohen-Kettenis PT, Carmichael P, de Vries ALC, Dhondt K, et al. 2018. Psychological functioning in adolescents referred to specialist gender identity clinics across Europe: a clinical comparison study between four clinics. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 27(7):909–19
- de Graaf NM, Steensma TD, Carmichael P, VanderLaan DP, Aitken M, et al. 2022. Suicidality in clinic-referred transgender adolescents. Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 31(1):67–83
- de Vries ALC, Doreleijers TAH, Steensma TD, Cohen-Kettenis PT. 2011a. Psychiatric comorbidity in gender dysphoric adolescents. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 52(11):1195–202
- de Vries ALC, Steensma TD, Doreleijers TAH, Cohen-Kettenis PT. 2011b. Puberty suppression in adolescents with gender identity disorder: a prospective follow-up study. *J. Sex. Med.* 8:2276–83
- Durwood L, Eisner L, Fladeboe K, Ji CG, Barney S, et al. 2021. Social support and internalizing psychopathology in transgender youth. *J. Youth Adolesc.* 50(5):841–54
- Ehrensaft D. 2017. Gender nonconforming youth: current perspectives. Adolesc. Health Med. Ther. 8:57-67
- Eisenberg ME, Gower AL, McMorris BJ, Rider GN, Shea G, Coleman E. 2017. Risk and protective factors in the lives of transgender/gender nonconforming adolescents. *7. Adolesc. Health Care* 61(4):521–26
- Evans YN, Gridley SJ, Crouch J, Wang A, Moreno MA, et al. 2017. Understanding online resource use by transgender youth and caregivers: a qualitative study. *Transgend. Health* 2(1):129–39
- Fontanari AMV, Vilanova F, Schneider MA, Chinazzo I, Soll BM, et al. 2020. Gender affirmation is associated with transgender and gender nonbinary youth mental health improvement. *LGBT Health* 7(5):237–47
- Fortunato A, Giovanardi G, Innocenzi E, Mirabella M, Caviglia G, et al. 2022. Is it autism? A critical commentary on the co-occurrence of gender dysphoria and autism spectrum disorder. *J. Homosex*. 69(7):1204–21
- Gibson DJ, Glazier JJ, Olson KR. 2021. Evaluation of anxiety and depression in a community sample of transgender youth. JAMA Psychiatry 4(4):e214739
- Gower AL, Rider GN, Brown C, McMorris BJ, Coleman E, et al. 2018. Supporting transgender and gender diverse youth: protection against emotional distress and substance use. Am. 7. Prev. Med. 55(6):787–94
- Green AE, DeChants JP, Price MN, Davis CK. 2022. Association of gender-affirming hormone therapy with depression, thoughts of suicide, and attempted suicide among transgender and nonbinary youth. *J. Adolesc. Health* 70(4):643–49
- Grossman AH, D'Augelli AR. 2007. Transgender youth and life-threatening behaviors. Suicide Life-Threat. Behav. 37(5):527–37
- Guss CE, Williams DN, Reisner SL, Austin SB, Katz-Wise SL. 2017. Disordered weight management behaviors, nonprescription steroid use, and weight perception in transgender youth. J. Adolesc. Health 60(1):17–22
- Guz S, Kattari SK, Atteberry-Ash B, Klemmer CL, Call J, Kattari L. 2021. Depression and suicide risk at the cross-section of sexual orientation and gender identity for youth. *7. Adolesc. Health* 68(2):317–23
- Hatchel T, Valido A, De Pedro KT, Huang Y, Espelage DL. 2019. Minority stress among transgender adolescents: the role of peer victimization, school belonging, and ethnicity. *J. Child Fam. Stud.* 28(9):2467–76
- Hatzenbuehler ML. 2017. Advancing research on structural stigma and sexual orientation disparities in mental health among youth. J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol. 46(3):463–75
- Herman JL, Flores AR, Brown TNT, Wilson BDM, Conron KJ. 2017. Age of individuals who identify as transgender in the United States. Rep., Williams Inst. UCLA Sch. Law, Los Angeles. https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/Age-Trans-Individuals-Jan-2017.pdf
- Herman JL, Flores AR, O'Neill KK. 2022. How many adults and youth identify as transgender in the United States? Rep., Williams Inst. UCLA Sch. Law, Los Angeles. https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/Trans-Pop-Update-Jun-2022.pdf
- Hidalgo MA, Petras H, Chen D, Chodzen G. 2019. The Gender Minority Stress and Resilience Measure: psychometric validity of an adolescent extension. Clin. Pract. Pediatr. Psychol. 7(3):278–90
- High Court of Justice. 2020. Quincy Bell and another v The Tavistock and Portman NHS Foundation Trust and others. EWHC 3274, Jan. 12. https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Bell-v-Tavistock-Judgment.pdf

- Hillier A, Torg E. 2019. Parent participation in a support group for families with transgender and gendernonconforming children: "being in the company of others who do not question the reality of our experience." *Transgend. Health* 4(1):168–75
- Hisle-Gorman E, Schvey NA, Adirim TA, Rayne AK, Susi A, et al. 2021. Mental healthcare utilization of transgender youth before and after affirming treatment. 7. Sex. Med. 18(8):1444–54
- Holt V, Skagerberg E, Dunsford M. 2016. Young people with features of gender dysphoria: demographics and associated difficulties. Clin. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 21(1):108–18
- Jackman KB, Caceres BA, Kreuze EJ, Bockting WO. 2021. Suicidality among gender minority youth: analysis of 2017 Youth Risk Behavior Survey data. Arch. Suicide Res. 25(2):208–23
- Jacobs LA, Rachlin K, Erickson-Schroth L, Janssen A. 2014. Gender dysphoria and co-occurring autism spectrum disorders: review, case examples, and treatment considerations. LGBT Health 1(4):277–82
- Johns MM, Lowry R, Andrzejewski J, Barrios LC, Demissie Z, et al. 2019. Transgender identity and experiences of violence victimization, substance use, suicide risk, and sexual risk behaviors among high school students—19 states and large urban school districts, 2017. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 68(3):67–71
- Johns MM, Zamantakis A, Andrzejewski J, Boyce L, Rasberry CN, Jayne PE. 2021. Minority stress, coping, and transgender youth in schools—results from the Resilience and Transgender Youth Study. J. Sch. Health 91(11):883–93
- Johnson KC, LeBlanc AJ, Deardorff J, Bockting WO. 2020a. Invalidation experiences among non-binary adolescents. 7. Sex Res. 57(2):222–33
- Johnson KC, LeBlanc AJ, Sterzing PR, Deardorff J, Antin T, Bockting WO. 2020b. Trans adolescents' perceptions and experiences of their parents' supportive and rejecting behaviors. J. Couns. Psychol. 67(2):156–70
- Jones T, Hillier L. 2013. Comparing trans-spectrum and same-sex-attracted youth in Australia: increased risks, increased activisms. 7. LGBT Youth 10(4):287–307
- Kaltiala R, Heino E, Työläjärvi M, Suomalainen L. 2020. Adolescent development and psychosocial functioning after starting cross-sex hormones for gender dysphoria. *Nord. 7. Psychiatry* 74(3):213–19
- Katz-Wise SL, Budge SL, Orovecz JJ, Nguyen B, Nava-Coulter B, Thomson K. 2017. Imagining the future: perspectives among youth and caregivers in the Trans Youth Family Study. J. Couns. Psychol. 64(1):26–40
- Keo-Meier C, Ehrensaft D, eds. 2018. Introduction to the gender affirmative model. In *The Gender Affirmative Model: An Interdisciplinary Approach to Supporting Transgender and Gender Expansive Children*, pp. 3–19. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Khadr S, Masic U, Clarke V, Lynn RM, Holt V, Carmichael P. 2022. Key socio-demographic characteristics of children and adolescents with gender dysphoria: a British Isles surveillance study. Clin. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 27(4):1106–123
- Kidd KM, Sequeira GM, Paglisotti T, Katz-Wise SL, Kazmerski TM, et al. 2021. "This could mean death for my child": parent perspectives on laws banning gender-affirming care for transgender adolescents. 7. Adolesc. Health 68(6):1082–88
- Kosciw JG, Clark CM, Truong NL, Zongrone AD. 2020. The 2019 National School Climate Survey: The Experiences of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer Youth in Our Nation's Schools. New York: GLSEN
- Kotov R, Krueger RF, Watson D, Achenbach TM, Althoff RR, et al. 2017. The Hierarchical Taxonomy of Psychopathology (HiTOP): a dimensional alternative to traditional nosologies. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 126(4):454–77
- Kozee HB, Tylka TL, Bauerband AL. 2012. Measuring transgender individuals' comfort with gender identity and appearance: development and validation of the Transgender Congruence Scale. *Psychol. Women Q.* 36(2):179–96
- Kuper LE, Lindley L, Lopez X. 2019a. Exploring the gender development histories of children and adolescents presenting for gender affirming medical care. Clin. Pract. Pediatr. Psychol. 7(3):217–28
- Kuper LE, Mathews S, Lau M. 2019b. Baseline mental health and psychosocial functioning of transgender adolescents seeking gender-affirming hormone therapy. *J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr*: 40(8):589–96
- Kuper LE, Stewart S, Preston S, Lau M, Lopez X. 2020. Body dissatisfaction and mental health outcomes of youth on gender-affirming hormone therapy. *Pediatrics* 145(4):e20193006

- Kuvalanka KA, Weiner JL, Munroe C, Goldberg AE, Gardner M. 2017. Trans and gender-nonconforming children and their caregivers: gender presentations, peer relations, and well-being at baseline. J. Fam. Psychol. 31(7):889–99
- Lawlis SM, Butler P, Middleman A. 2020. Evaluating transgender youth and parent interest and preferences regarding support groups. *Glob. Pediatr: Health* 7:2333794X20954680
- Leon K, O'Bryan J, Wolf-Gould C, Turell SC, Gadomski A. 2021. Prevalence and risk factors for nonsuicidal self-injury in transgender and gender-expansive youth at a rural gender wellness clinic. *Transgend. Health* 6(1):43–50
- Levitan N, Barkmann C, Richter-Appelt H, Schulte-Markwort M, Becker-Hebly I. 2019. Risk factors for psychological functioning in German adolescents with gender dysphoria: poor peer relations and general family functioning. Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 28(11):1487–98
- Link BG, Phelan JC. 2001. Conceptualizing stigma. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 27:363-85
- Linsenmeyer WR, Katz IM, Reed JL, Giedinghagen AM, Lewis CB, Garwood SK. 2021. Disordered eating, food insecurity, and weight status among transgender and gender nonbinary youth and young adults: a cross-sectional study using a nutrition screening protocol. *LGBT Health* 8(5):359–66
- López de Lara D, Rodríguez OP, Flores IC, Masa JLP, Campos-Muñoz L, et al. 2020. Psychosocial assessment in transgender adolescents. *An. Pediatr. (Engl. Ed.)* 93(1):41–48
- Lucassen MF, Stasiak K, Fleming T, Frampton C, Perry Y, et al. 2021. Computerized cognitive behavioural therapy for gender minority adolescents: analysis of the real-world implementation of SPARX in New Zealand. Aust. N.Z. 7. Psychiatry 55(9):874–82
- Mahfouda S, Panos C, Whitehouse AJO, Thomas CS, Maybery M, et al. 2019. Mental health correlates of autism spectrum disorder in gender diverse young people: evidence from a specialised child and adolescent gender clinic in Australia. *J. Clin. Med. Res.* 8(10):1503
- Malpas J, Pellicane MJ, Glaeser E. 2022. Family-based interventions with transgender and gender expansive youth: systematic review and best practice recommendations. *Transgend. Health* 7(1):7–29
- Matsuno E, Israel T. 2021. The Parent Support Program: development and acceptability of an online intervention aimed at increasing supportive behaviors among parents of trans youth. *J. GLBT Fam. Stud.* 17(5):413–31
- Mehringer JE, Harrison JB, Quain KM, Shea JA, Hawkins LA, Dowshen NL. 2021. Experience of chest dysphoria and masculinizing chest surgery in transmasculine youth. *Pediatrics* 147(3):e2020013300
- Meyer IH. 1995. Minority stress and mental health in gay men. 7. Health Soc. Behav. 36(1):38-56
- Nahata L, Quinn GP, Caltabellotta NM, Tishelman AC. 2017. Mental health concerns and insurance denials among transgender adolescents. *LGBT Health* 4(3):188–93
- Newhook JT, Benson K, Bridger T, Crowther C, Sinnott R. 2018. The TransKidsNL study: healthcare and support needs of transgender children, youth, and families on the Island of Newfoundland. *Can. 7. Commun. Ment. Health* 37(2):13–28
- Paceley MS, Dikitsas ZA, Greenwood E, McInroy LB, Fish JN, et al. 2023. The perceived health implications of policies and rhetoric targeting transgender and gender diverse youth: a community-based qualitative study. *Transgend. Health* 8:100–3
- Paceley MS, Okrey-Anderson S, Heumann M. 2017. Transgender youth in small towns: perceptions of community size, climate, and support. J. Youth Stud. 20(7):822–40
- Pang KC, de Graaf NM, Chew D, Hoq M, Keith DR, et al. 2020. Association of media coverage of transgender and gender diverse issues with rates of referral of transgender children and adolescents to specialist gender clinics in the UK and Australia. *JAMA Pediatr.* 3(7):e2011161
- Pariseau EM, Chevalier L, Long KA, Clapham R, Edwards-Leeper L, Tishelman AC. 2019. The relationship between family acceptance-rejection and transgender youth psychosocial functioning. Clin. Pract. Pediatr. Psychol. 7(3):267–77
- Peng K, Zhu X, Gillespie A, Wang Y, Gao Y, et al. 2019. Self-reported rates of abuse, neglect, and bullying experienced by transgender and gender-nonbinary adolescents in China. *JAMA Public Health* 2(9):e1911058
- Peterson CM, Matthews A, Copps-Smith E, Conard LA. 2017. Suicidality, self-harm, and body dissatisfaction in transgender adolescents and emerging adults with gender dysphoria. Suicide Life-Threat. Behav. 47(4):475–82

- Pham A, Morgan AR, Kerman H, Albertson K, Crouch JM, et al. 2020. How are transgender and gender nonconforming youth affected by the news? A qualitative study. 7. Adolesc. Health 66(4):478–83
- Potter A, Dube S, Allgaier N, Loso H, Ivanova M, et al. 2021. Early adolescent gender diversity and mental health in the Adolescent Brain Cognitive Development study. 7. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 62(2):171–79
- Price MA, Hollinsaid NL, Bokhour EJ, Johnston C, Skov HE, et al. 2021. Transgender and gender diverse youth's experiences of gender-related adversity. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work J.* https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-021-00785-6
- Price-Feeney M, Green AE, Dorison SH. 2020. Understanding the mental health of transgender and nonbinary youth. *7. Adolesc. Health* 66(6):684–90
- Price-Feeney M, Green AE, Dorison SH. 2021. Impact of bathroom discrimination on mental health among transgender and nonbinary youth. *7. Adolesc. Health* 68(6):1142–47
- Pulice-Farrow L, Cusack CE, Galupo MP. 2020. "Certain parts of my body don't belong to me": trans individuals' descriptions of body-specific gender dysphoria. Sex. Res. Soc. Policy 17(4):654–67
- Pullen Sansfaçon A, Temple-Newhook J, Suerich-Gulick F, Feder S, Lawson ML, et al. 2019. The experiences of gender diverse and trans children and youth considering and initiating medical interventions in Canadian gender-affirming speciality clinics. *Int. 7. Transgenderism* 20(4):371–87
- Reed GM, Drescher J, Krueger RB, Atalla E, Cochran SD, et al. 2016. Disorders related to sexuality and gender identity in the ICD-11: revising the ICD-10 classification based on current scientific evidence, best clinical practices, and human rights considerations. *World Psychiatry* 15(3):205–21
- Reisner SL, Vetters R, Leclerc M, Zaslow S, Wolfrum S, et al. 2015. Mental health of transgender youth in care at an adolescent urban community health center: a matched retrospective cohort study. *J. Adolesc. Health* 56(3):274–79
- Richgels C, Cahill S, Thompson J, Dunn M. 2021. State bills restricting access of transgender youth to health care, school facilities, and school athletics threaten health and well-being. Policy Brief, Fenway Health, Boston. https://fenwayhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/Anti-trans-legislation-policy-brief-FINAL.pdf
- Rider GN, McMorris BJ, Gower AL, Coleman E, Eisenberg ME. 2018. Health and care utilization of transgender and gender nonconforming youth: a population-based study. *Pediatrics* 141(3):e20171683
- Rimes KA, Goodship N, Ussher G, Baker D, West E. 2019. Non-binary and binary transgender youth: comparison of mental health, self-harm, suicidality, substance use and victimization experiences. *Int. J. Transgenderism* 20(2–3):230–40
- Röder M, Barkmann C, Richter-Appelt H, Schulte-Markwort M, Ravens-Sieberer U, Becker I. 2018. Healthrelated quality of life in transgender adolescents: associations with body image and emotional and behavioral problems. *Int. J. Transgenderism* 19(1):78–91
- Rogol AD, Roemmich JN, Clark PA. 2002. Growth at puberty. 7. Adolesc. Health 31:192-200
- Romito M, Salk RH, Roberts SR, Thoma BC, Levine MD, Choukas-Bradley S. 2021. Exploring transgender adolescents' body image concerns and disordered eating: semi-structured interviews with nine gender minority youth. *Body Image* 37:50–62
- Ross-Reed DE, Reno J, Peñaloza L, Green D, FitzGerald C. 2019. Family, school, and peer support are associated with rates of violence victimization and self-harm among gender minority and cisgender youth. *7. Adolesc. Health* 65(6):776–83
- Russell ST, Fish JN. 2016. Mental health in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) youth. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 12:465–87
- Russell ST, Pollitt AM, Li G, Grossman AH. 2018. Chosen name use is linked to reduced depressive symptoms, suicidal ideation, and suicidal behavior among transgender youth. *J. Adolesc. Health* 63(4):503–5
- Selkie E, Adkins V, Masters E, Bajpai A, Shumer D. 2020. Transgender adolescents' uses of social media for social support. J. Adolesc. Health 66(3):275–80
- Sievert ED, Schweizer K, Barkmann C, Fahrenkrug S, Becker-Hebly I. 2021. Not social transition status, but peer relations and family functioning predict psychological functioning in a German clinical sample of children with gender dysphoria. Clin. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 26(1):79–95
- Skagerberg E, Davidson S, Carmichael P. 2013a. Internalizing and externalizing behaviors in a group of young people with gender dysphoria. *Int. 7. Transgenderism* 14(3):105–12
- Skagerberg E, Parkinson R, Carmichael P. 2013b. Self-harming thoughts and behaviors in a group of children and adolescents with gender dysphoria. Int. J. Transgenderism 14(2):86–92

- Sood R, Chen D, Muldoon AL, Chen L, Kwasny MJ, et al. 2021. Association of chest dysphoria with anxiety and depression in transmasculine and nonbinary adolescents seeking gender-affirming care. J. Adolesc. Health Care 68(6):1135–41
- Sorbara JC, Chiniara LN, Thompson S, Palmert MR. 2020. Mental health and timing of gender-affirming care. Pediatrics 146(4):e20193600
- Strang JF, Janssen A, Tishelman A, Leibowitz SF, Kenworthy L, et al. 2018. Revisiting the link: evidence of the rates of autism in studies of gender diverse individuals. *J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 57(11):885–86
- Strauss P, Morgan H, Wright Toussaint D, Lin A, Winter S, Perry Y. 2019. Trans and gender diverse young people's attitudes towards game-based digital mental health interventions: a qualitative investigation. *Internet Interv.* 18:100280
- Suess Schwend A, Winter S, Chiam Z, Smiley A, Cabral Grinspan M. 2018. Depathologising gender diversity in childhood in the process of ICD revision and reform. *Glob. Public Health* 13(11):1585–98
- Surace T, Fusar-Poli L, Vozza L, Cavone V, Arcidiacono C, et al. 2021. Lifetime prevalence of suicidal ideation and suicidal behaviors in gender non-conforming youths: a meta-analysis. Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 30(8):1147–61
- Taliaferro LA, McMorris BJ, Eisenberg ME. 2018. Connections that moderate risk of non-suicidal self-injury among transgender and gender non-conforming youth. *Psychiatry Res.* 268:65–67
- Taliaferro LA, McMorris BJ, Rider GN, Eisenberg ME. 2019. Risk and protective factors for self-harm in a population-based sample of transgender youth. *Arch. Suicide Res.* 23(2):203–21
- Testa RJ, Habarth J, Peta J, Balsam K, Bockting W. 2015. Development of the Gender Minority Stress and Resilience measure. *Psychol. Sex. Orientat. Gend. Divers.* 2:65–77
- Thoma BC, Rezeppa TL, Choukas-Bradley S, Salk RH, Marshal MP. 2021. Disparities in childhood abuse between transgender and cisgender adolescents. *Pediatrics* 148(2):e2020016907
- Toomey RB. 2021. Advancing research on minority stress and resilience in trans children and adolescents in the 21st century. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 15(2):96–102
- Toomey RB, Syvertsen AK, Shramko M. 2018. Transgender adolescent suicide behavior. *Pediatrics* 142(4):e20174218
- Townsend M, Deerwater R, Adams N, Hurwitz A, Trasandes M, et al. 2022. Where we are on TV: 2021–2022. Rep., GLAAD Media Inst., Los Angeles. https://www.glaad.org/sites/default/files/GLAAD%20202122%20WWATV.pdf
- Trevor Proj. 2020. The Trevor Project national survey on LGBTQ youth mental health. Rep., Trevor Proj., West Hollywood, CA. https://www.thetrevorproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/The-Trevor-Project-National-Survey-Results-2020.pdf
- Turban JL, van Schalkwyk GI. 2018. "Gender dysphoria" and autism spectrum disorder: Is the link real? J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 57(1):8–9
- Van Cauwenberg G, Dhondt K, Motmans J. 2021. Ten years of experience in counseling gender diverse youth in Flanders, Belgium. A clinical overview. Int. 7. Impot. Res. 33(7):671–78
- Vance SR, Boyer CB, Glidden DV, Sevelius J. 2021. Mental health and psychosocial risk and protective factors among Black and Latinx transgender youth compared with peers. JAMA Netw. Open 4(3):e213256
- Veale JF, Peter T, Travers R, Saewyc EM. 2017a. Enacted stigma, mental health, and protective factors among transgender youth in Canada. *Transgend. Health* 2:207–16
- Veale JF, Watson RJ, Peter T, Saewyc EM. 2017b. Mental health disparities among Canadian transgender youth. J. Adolesc. Health 60(1):44–49
- Wallien MSC, Swaab H, Cohen-Kettenis PT. 2007. Psychiatric comorbidity among children with gender identity disorder. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 46(10):1307–14
- Wang Y, Yu H, Yang Y, Drescher J, Li R, et al. 2020. Mental health status of cisgender and gender-diverse secondary school students in China. JAMA Psychiatry 3(10):e2022796
- Weinhardt LS, Xie H, Wesp LM, Murray JR, Apchemengich I, et al. 2019. The role of family, friend, and significant other support in well-being among transgender and non-binary youth. *J. GLBT Fam. Stud.* 15(4):311–25
- Wernick LJ, Kulick A, Inglehart MH. 2014. Influences of peers, teachers, and climate on students' willingness to intervene when witnessing anti-transgender harassment. *J. Adolesc.* 37:927–35

- Witcomb GL, Claes L, Bouman WP, Nixon E, Motmans J, Arcelus J. 2019. Experiences and psychological wellbeing outcomes associated with bullying in treatment-seeking transgender and gender-diverse youth. LGBT Health 6(5):216–26
- World Health Organ. 2022. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems. Geneva: World Health Organ. 11th rev.
- Yadegarfard M, Meinhold-Bergmann ME, Ho R. 2014. Family rejection, social isolation, and loneliness as predictors of negative health outcomes (depression, suicidal ideation, and sexual risk behavior) among Thai male-to-female transgender adolescents. *J. LGBT Youth* 11(4):347–63
- Zucker KJ. 2005. Gender Identity Disorder in children and adolescents. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 1:467-69